FEB 1 1993 ERK SUPPEME COURT By. Chief Deputy Glerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,952

SECTION 3 PROPERTY CORP,

Petitioner,

v.

JOEL W. ROBBINS, as Property Appraiser of Dade County, Florida,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

William A. Fragetta BAILEY HUNT JONES & BUSTO, a professional association Courvoisier Centre, Suite 300 501 Brickell Key Drive Miami, Florida 33131-2608 (305) 374-5505 Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Respondent Joel W. Robbins ("Robbins"), the Dade County Property Appraiser, issued a ruling denying Petitioner's Section 3 Property Corp. ("Section 3") application for an agricultural classification of particular Dade County real property owned by Section 3, for the year $1990.(A.2)^1$ Section 3 appealed this decision to the Dade County Property Appraisal Adjustment Board which reversed Robbins' decision and held that Section 3 was entitled to an agricultural classification for the property in question.(A.2-3) Robbins filed an action against Section 3 in the Eleventh Judicial Circuit Court, in and for Dade County, Florida, seeking an order denying the agricultural classification for Section 3 property, and providing that Section 3 was responsible for a considerably higher amount of property taxes.(A.1-3). On March 16, 1992, Section 3 filed a demand for jury trial in Robbins' Dade County Circuit Court action. Robbins filed a motion to strike that demand for jury trial. On May 18, 1992, the trial court entered an order denying Robbins' motion.(A.4)

On June 18, 1992, Robbins filed in the Third District Court of Appeal a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to review the trial court's May 19, 1992, order. After briefing and argument, on November 24, 1992, the Court of Appeal issued its opinion.(A.5-8). The Court of Appeal granted Robbins' Petition and quashed the trial court order denying Robbins' Motion to Strike Section 3's Demand

¹ References to the Appendix to this brief are designated ("A.").

for Jury Trial. In its opinion, the Court of Appeal acknowledged that "[t]he right to a jury trial in a tax assessment challenge against an agricultural classification appears to be a question of first impression." The Court of Appeal stated that this case presents a question of great public importance, and certified the following question to this Court:

> Is there a right to a jury trial under Article I, Section 22 of the Florida Constitution (1968) in a tax action to challenge a Property Appraiser's grant of an agricultural exemption?

(A.8).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The fundamental nature of a party's constitutional right to jury trial demands that any question as to entitlement to a jury trial be reached if at all possible in favor of the party demanding a jury. The Court of Appeal's opinion fails to acknowledge and/or apply this basic principle, and instead resolves all unsettled questions in favor of the party moving to strike a demand for jury trial.

Those few appellate decisions which address a jury trial in the context of a case involving property tax assessments have stated and/or implied that a jury trial is available in such a case. In view of the fundamental principle of resolving questions in favor of an entitlement to trial by jury, the Court of Appeal erred in failing to consider and follow these cases.

The Court of Appeal erred in relying on and citing -- as purportedly supportive of its decision -- case authority which is inapposite and/or contradictory to the Court of Appeal's ruling.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN DECLINING TO RESOLVE QUESTIONS AND UNCERTAINTIES IN FAVOR OF THE PARTY DEMANDING A JURY TRIAL

Article I, Section 22, of the Florida Constitution, provides that "[t]he right of trial by jury shall be secured to all and remain inviolate." In Hollywood, Inc. v. City of Hollywood, 321 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1975), this Court held that this constitutional right to a jury trial is so fundamental that any question as to its entitlement in a given case ought to be resolved if at all possible in favor of the party demanding a jury. 321 So.2d at 71. In Hollywood, Inc., this Court decided that the defendant city was entitled to a jury trial in a county tax assessor's suit for equitable relief and a declaratory decree as to the ownership of certain property. Id.

The Third District Court of Appeal's Opinion does not even acknowledge the basic precept set forth in Hollywood, Inc. v. City of Hollywood. The text and tenor of the Opinion -- and the question certified by the Third District Court of Appeal -- evince the Third District Court of Appeal's uncertainty as to a tax payer/defendant's entitlement to a jury trial in a property appraiser's actions to revoke an agricultural classification of property. However, the Court of Appeal has chosen to resolve that

uncertainty against the party seeking entitlement to a jury trial. In support of this holding, the court merely stated: (a) that the remedy sought by the plaintiff/ Property Appraiser, which included a "declaratory judgment seeking the reinstatement of the Property Appraiser's original assessment," is "equitable in nature"; (b) "therefore, the right to a jury trial does not apply." Such a determination is inexplicable, in view of this Court's decision in *City of Hollywood*, which upheld a defendant's entitlement to jury trial in a County Tax Assessor's suit for "equitable relief" and "declaratory decree." 321 So.2d at 71.

II. FLORIDA COURTS HAVE CONSISTENTLY GRANTED JURY TRIALS IN CASES CENTERING ON PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENTS

Numerous Florida cases demonstrate that Section 3 is entitled to a jury trial in this case, in which Robbins has asked the trial court to overturn the Dade County Property Appraisal Adjustment Board's determination that Section 3 is entitled to an agricultural classification and assessment of its property for the year 1990.

Ozier v. Seminole County Property Appraiser, 585 So.2d 357 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), dealt with a property owner's suit challenging the tax assessment on his home. The court of appeal held that: "The issue of whether the [the plaintiff's property and other, lower-assessed, properties] are comparable for tax-assessment purposes is to be decided by the jury." In Firstamerica Development Corp. v. County of Volusia, 298 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974), the First District Court of Appeal addressed a factual situation

directly on point with that presented in that case: review of a finding that a taxpayer's land was not classifiable and assessable as agricultural lands for a particular year. At the outset the court in *Firstamerica* noted that:

We have for review a final judgment entered by the trial judge following a trial before the court without a jury, and jury trial having been specifically waived by stipulation of the parties.

298 So.2d at 192 (emphasis added). Unlike the taxpayer in First America, Section 3 has not entered into a stipulation waiving its right to jury trial in this case involving the same legal issues.

This Court has explicitly held that a municipal corporation is as a matter of law entitled to a jury trial to determine its power to tax land to which municipal benefits allegedly have not accrued. *City of South Miami ex rel. Gibbs*, 143 Fla. 524, 197 So. 109 (Fla. 1940). In *Dickinson v. Allen*, 215 So.2d 747 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968) (reversed on other grounds at 223 So.2d 310 (Fla. 1969)), the court addressed a taxpayer's action to determine the validity of an increased property tax assessment. The court held that in such a case:

> If the evidence raises the slightest doubt upon any issue of material fact or it will permit of different reasonable inferences, the case should be submitted to a jury which is the constitutional trier of the facts.

215 So.2d at 749.

The aforementioned case authority demonstrates Section 3's entitlement to a trial by jury -- the constitutional trier of facts in this case. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal's Opinion does not even acknowledge this authority. The Opinion holds that a trial

court is *barred* from conducting a jury trial in cases involving property tax assessments, and that a trial court judge has no discretion to allow a trial by jury in such cases. The Opinion below makes no attempt to reconcile such a holding with the multiple appellate decisions which have discussed, authorized and approved of a jury trial in such cases. The Court of Appeal has not -- as is required -- resolved questions in favor of the party demanding a jury trial, but has instead erected an unprecedented barrier to the allowance of a jury trial in cases involving tax assessments.

III.

THE PRINCIPAL CASES CITED IN THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION ARE INAPPOSITE TO AND/OR CONTRADICT THE COURT OF APPEAL'S HOLDING

The Opinion cites Lincoln Tower Corp. v. Dunhall's Florida Inc., 61 So.2d 474 (Fla. 1952) -- the principal case in which Robbins relied in his petition for writ of certiorari -- for the proposition that "issues of fact traditionally within the scope of courts of equity are decided by the court." (A.8). In fact, Lincoln Tower supports Section 3's entitlement to a jury trial, rather than the Court of Appeal's contrary holding. The Court in Lincoln Tower deemed the plaintiff entitled to a jury trial, and stressed the importance of preserving the right to jury trial:

> It seems to us to be evident that a jury to which are submitted proper interrogatories will be able to determine finally, for the present and future guidance of the parties, whether or not the performance of plaintiff meets the standards required by the lease. And we think it is immaterial whether the cause is entitled at common

law or in equity, or that it partakes of the nature of both, so long as the right to jury trial of pertinent issues is preserved.

61 So.2d at 476 (emphasis added).

The Opinion further relies on Camp Phosphate Co. v. Allen. 77 Fla. 341, 81 So. 503 (Fla. 1919), (A.7), a decision which is no longer good law. In Cosen Investment Co., Inc. v. Overstreet, 154 Fla. 416, 17 So.2d 788 (1944), this Court stated that "[t]he logic of the opinion in Camp Phosphate Co. v. Allen ... is no longer applicable." 154 Fla. at 416. In Dade County v. Salter, 194 So.2d 587 (Fla. 1966), this Court reiterated that "[w]e rejected our prior holding, Camp Phosphate Co. v. Allen" 194 So.2d at 589.

The remaining cases cited in the Opinion do not address the issues presented in this case. The Opinion cites no decision which reverses a trial court order denying a motion to strike jury trial demand. The Opinion cites not a single decision requiring that a trial court deny a request for jury trial in circumstances even remotely resembling those presented in this case. In this factual and legal context, the Court of Appeal erred in holding that the trial court was precluded from conducting a jury trial in this case.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner Section 3 Property Corporation respectfully requests that this Court enter an order reversing the District Court of Appeal's November 24, 1992, order

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