SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no constitutional right to a jury trial in cases which implicate the equitable jurisdiction of the courts. is clear that tax challenge cases, including the case sub judice, have always and continue to implicate the courts' equitable jurisdiction, because the issues of the cases sound in equity, and because the historical antecedents to the current Florida Statutes which govern tax challenge cases made it clear that such cases were to be heard before the chancery courts sitting in equity. Numerous Florida cases set forth the elements of stating and proving a cause of action in equity to challenge a tax assessment--not one Florida case discusses what the elements of such a cause of action at law might be. Accordingly, because tax challenge cases are equitable actions, they do not fall within the scope of cases for which jury trials are guaranteed by the Florida Constitution.

No Florida court has ever granted a jury trial in a tax challenge case. Every recorded tax challenge case in Florida has been tried non-jury. The Florida Legislature has not provided for jury trials in tax challenge cases, even though it has done so by statute in other types of cases. This Court should not now depart from such a long history of non-jury tax challenge cases based merely upon strained inferences urged by Petitioner as taken from a few Petitioner-selected cases that do not even discuss the propriety of jury trials in tax challenge cases.

Tax challenge cases are in the nature of appeals for the review of the property appraiser's exercise of his or her administrative discretion. The fact finder is not allowed to make an independent determination of value. It is not within the province of a jury to pass judgment on whether an administrative officer has abused his or her administrative discretion, such determinations being exclusively within the province of the judiciary. There is therefore no proper role for a jury to play in a tax challenge case, and juries should therefore not be impaneled in such cases.

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT ACTIONS CONTESTING AD VALOREM TAXATION ARE ACTIONS SOUNDING IN EQUITY AND THUS NOT TRIABLE BY JURY

A. Actions In Equity Do Not Fall Within The Protection Of Article I, Section 22 Of The Florida Constitution.

It is well established that where a right or remedy is equitable in nature, there is no right to a jury trial. R.53; citing Hawkins v. Rellim Inv. Co., 92 Fla. 784, 110 So. 350 (Fla. 1926); Hathorne v. Panama Park Co., 44 Fla. 194, 32 So. 812 (Fla. 1902); Hughes v. Hannah, 39 Fla. 365, 22 So. 613 (Fla. 1897); Wiggins v. Williams, 36 Fla. 637, 18 So. 859 (Fla. 1896). See also In re: Estate of William A. Howard, 542 So. 2d 395, 399 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (statute which codifies an equitable principle creates no jury-demandable issue). Petitioner has not quarreled with or refuted this axiom in its Initial Brief on the Merits.

Accordingly, as stated by the district court below, actions in equity do not fall within the protection of Article I, Section 22 of the Florida Constitution guaranteeing the right to a jury trial. R.53; <u>Wiggins</u>, 18 So. at 863-64. It is, in fact, reversible error for a court to submit to a jury issues which are traditionally within the province of an

equity court to determine. Chabad House-Lubavitch of Palm

Beach County, Inc. v. Banks, 602 So.2d 670, 672 (Fla. 4th DCA

1992); Cooley v. Cody, 377 So.2d 796, 797 (Fla. 1st DCA

1979). See Opinion, R.53, citing Lincoln Tower Corp. v.

Dunhall's-Florida, Inc., 61 So.2d 474 (Fla. 1952); and

Greenwood v. Oates, 251 So.2d 665 (Fla. 1971). Therefore, if

the instant case is one sounding in equity, Petitioner can

claim no right to a jury trial, and the ruling of the Third

District Court must stand.

B. Tax Challenge Cases Brought Pursuant To Chapter 194 Of The Florida Statutes Are Actions Sounding In Equity.

The remedy sought in the case <u>sub judice</u> is in the nature of an injunction and a declaratory judgment seeking the reinstatement of the Property Appraiser's original assessment. R.53. As the court below found, the remedy sought is equitable in nature. R.53. Petitioner has not challenged this finding.

Additionally, it is clear that tax challenge cases have traditionally sounded and continue to sound in equity, and thus do not give rise to a right to jury trial. In <u>Powell v. Kelly</u>, 223 So.2d 305, 307 (Fla. 1969), this Court specifically stated that tax challenge cases implicate the equitable jurisdiction of the circuit courts. In <u>Paul v. Blake</u>, 376 So.2d 256, 259 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979), the district court characterized a plaintiff's challenge of certain tax

exemptions as an action in equity. In Dade County Land Development Corp. v. Dade County, 157 So.2d 142 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1963), the equity doctrine of "clean hands" was held applicable to tax challenge cases. "The rule that one who seeks equity must do equity is particularly applicable in suits of this kind . . . [H]e who seeks equity must do equity in cases challenging assessments." Dade County Land Development at 144, 145. In Charles Sales Corp. of West Palm Beach v. Maxwell, 224 So.2d 752, 755 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969), the Fourth District Court held that an aggrieved personal property taxpayer could pursue either "the traditional equitable remedy" or the legal remedy of certiorari then available under section 200.10, Florida Statutes (1967). There was no mention in any of these cases of any legal or other remedy which would give rise to a right to a jury trial being available to a taxpayer.

Furthermore, as pointed out by the Third District Court, it is beyond question that the statutory precursors to the current "tax challenge" statutes contained in Chapter 194 of the Florida Statutes were statutes authorizing equitable actions in the chancery courts. R.52. In Reid v. Lucom, 349 So.2d 661 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), cert. den'd. 358 So.2d 132 (Fla.), cert. den'd. 439 U.S. 860, 99 S.Ct. 180, 58 L.Ed. 2d 169 (1978), the Fourth District Court recognized that an action brought pursuant to Chapter 194 is an action "formerly cognizable in equity". The First District Court, in a very

recent opinion, found that Chapter 8586, Acts of 1921, General Laws--the earliest predecessor to Section 194.171, Florida Statutes (1991) -- conferred jurisdiction in tax cases upon "courts of equity". The Printing House, Inc. v. State of Florida, Dept. of Revenue, 18 FLW 245 (Fla. 1st DCA, Dec. 31, See also Day v. City of St. Augustine, 104 Fla. 261, 139 So. 880, 883 (Fla. 1932) (holding that statute conferred jurisdiction on courts of equity in all cases involving the legality of any tax, assessment, or toll, and that the statute was in consonance with the constitutional provision on the Dade County v. McArthur Jersey Farm Dairy, Inc., 214 So. 2d 362, 363 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1968); and Dade County Land Development, 157 So.2d at 143. Because it is clear that the statutory rights and remedies provided for in Chapter 194 and its predecessors are and were equitable in nature, it is equally clear that Petitioner has no right to a jury trial in the instant cause.

This Court has consistently found that the right to a jury trial does not apply to equity actions. Hawkins, 110 So. at 351; Hathorne, 32 So. at 813; Hughes v. Hannah, 22 So. at 615; Wiggins v. Williams, 18 So. at 863-64. This Court has also consistently recognized that tax challenge cases sound in equity. See, e.g., Powell, 223 So.2d at 307; Day, 139 So. at 883; City of Tampa v. Palmer, 105 So. 115, 120-21 (Fla. 1925) (holding that the only remedies available to challenge tax assessment were either to appear before local administrative

board of equalization or to sue in a court of equity); Graham v. City of West Tampa, 71 Fla. 605, 71 So. 926, 928 (Fla. 1916) ("Where the essential requirements of law are not observed in making valuations of property for assessment . . . appropriate relief may be had in equity."). Accordingly, if this Court were now to rule in favor of Petitioner, the Court would of necessity have to recede from either (a) the line of cases holding that equitable actions do not give rise to a right to jury trials, or (b) its line of cases finding that tax challenge cases sound in equity. Petitioner has presented neither sound nor compelling reasons for this Court to overturn either line of legal precedent.

·II

THE CASES CITED BY PETITIONER PROVIDE NO BASIS OR SUPPORT FOR PETITIONER'S CONTENTION THAT IT IS ENTITLED TO A JURY TRIAL IN A TAX CHALLENGE CASE

Petitioner's argument that this Court should overturn the ruling of the Third District Court is based on three premises:

(I) that the case of Hollywood Inc. v. City of Hollywood,

321 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1965) negates the district court's finding that this action sounds in equity and thus is not triable by jury; (II) that Florida Courts have consistently granted jury trials in cases centering on property tax assessments; and (III) that the cases cited by the Third District Court are inapposite or contradictory to the district court's Opinion. A critical review of these three premises reveals them to be imprecise, incorrect, and irrelevant.

A. Hollywood, Inc. v. City Of Hollywood Is Not A Tax Challenge Case And Does Not Support Petitioner's Claim That It Is Entitled To A Jury Trial.

Petitioner states, on page 3 of its Initial Brief on the Merits, that this Court decided in <u>Hollywood</u>, <u>Inc.</u> that the defendant City of Hollywood "was entitled to a jury trial in a county tax assessor's suit for equitable relief and a declaratory decree as to the ownership of certain property."

This statement is imprecise and misleading.

In August of 1964, the tax assessor for Broward County sued both Hollywood, Inc. and the City of Hollywood for a declaratory decree and equitable relief, alleging that both parties claimed ownership of certain ocean-front property and that the tax status of the land was unclear. Hollywood, Inc., 321 So.2d at 67. The tax assessor did not bring the suit to appeal a decision of an administrative board of tax review, as is the situation in the instant case.

Both defendants in <u>Hollywood</u>, <u>Inc.</u> did indeed claim ownership of the subject land. In an effort to legally establish its ownership, the City of Hollywood filed a crossclaim against Hollywood, Inc., seeking to quiet the City's title. <u>Id.</u>, at 70. Conversely, Hollywood, Inc. counterclaimed against the City of Hollywood, seeking to quiet its own title and to receive damages. <u>Id.</u>

The City of Hollywood sought a jury trial on the issues of dedication and right to possession of the property, and

based its demand for jury trial on Florida Statute 65.061.

Id. That statute provided that,

Chancery courts [have jurisdiction of actions by any person or corporation claiming legal or equitable title to any land . . . and] shall determine the title of plaintiff and may enter a judgment quieting the title and awarding possession to the party entitled thereto, but if any defendant is in actual possession of any part of the land, a trial by jury may be demanded by any party whereupon the court shall order an issue in ejectment as to such lands to be made and tried by jury. Provision for trial by jury does not affect the action on any lands that are not claimed to be in the actual possession of the defendant. . . .

Id., at 70-71 (emphasis added).

This Court held that the question to be decided in Hollywood, Inc. was whether either party to the dispute was a defendant in possession of the land, as required by the statute in order to trigger its jury trial provisions. Id., at 72. The City of Hollywood argued that it met both tests for jury trial as set forth in the statute, in that (1) it was a defendant in the original suit brought by the tax assessor and a counter-defendant against whom affirmative relief and damages were sought by counter-plaintiff, and (2) that it had been irrefutably in possession of the subject property for half a century. Id., at 71.

In holding that the City of Hollywood was entitled to a jury trial, this Court held that the City indeed met both of the statutory tests for a jury trial, stating that, "It is difficult to comprehend how the [City] could do more to

possess the beach property . . . ", and that "we find that the [City] easily fits within the definition of the term 'defendant'." <u>Id.</u>, at 72. "There is no question that the [City], in defending against the <u>counter-claim</u> . . . , was a <u>defendant</u> in <u>actual possession</u> of the property." <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added).

Thus, it is clear that this Court in Hollywood, Inc. was analyzing the City's right to a jury trial pursuant to the provisions of Florida Statute 65.061, and more particularly as it related to Hollywood, Inc's. counter-claim against the City. This Court did not adopt a blanket holding, as Petitioner's Initial Brief misleadingly suggests, that a defendant is entitled to a jury trial in any tax assessor's suit for equitable relief and declaratory decree.

Hollywood, Inc. simply does not establish any precedent for allowing a jury trial in a tax challenge case such as the instant action. First, Hollywood, Inc. did not involve any question as to the propriety of a tax assessor's assessment, as does the case <u>sub judice</u>. This Court granted a jury trial only as to dedication and actual possession of the property, issues unrelated to the actual tax assessment. <u>Id.</u>, at 71. Second, there were necessarily legal as well as equitable concerns in <u>Hollywood</u>, Inc. because the counter-claim filed therein sought damages as well as affirmative relief. <u>Id</u>. No damages are or could be sought in the instant case. Third, the statute at issue in <u>Hollywood</u>, Inc. provided that, if a defendant was in actual possession of the land, an issue in

ejectment should be made and tried by a jury. <u>Id.</u> This provision is in keeping with Florida law which holds that, "Ejectment is essentially a <u>legal</u> remedy", and that, "An action of ejectment is deemed to be a proceeding at <u>law."</u>

20 Fla.Jur.2d, <u>Ejectment and Related Remedies</u>, ss. 1, 43

(emphasis added). There is clearly no issue of ejectment in the action now before this Court.

Fourth, and most importantly, the issue before this Court in Hollywood, Inc. was decided on the basis of a statutory provision explicitly providing for jury trials under certain specified circumstances. There is no such corresponding statutory provision in the case <u>sub judice</u>. Nothing in Chapter 194 of the Florida Statutes, pursuant to which the instant case was brought, creates or provides for any right to a jury trial.

In the past, when the Florida Legislature has provided for a jury trial in a cause of action, it has done so explicitly, as it did under the statute at issue in Hollywood, Inc. 1/2 If the legislature had intended to make such a drastic change in the nature of a tax assessment challenge as to provide for a right to a jury trial where none existed previously, it could have done so with clear and unambiguous

^{1/} The eminent domain statute, for example, explicitly
provides that "the court shall impanel a jury. . . . The jury
shall determine solely the amount of compensation to be paid .
. . " Sections 73.071(1) and (3), Fla. Stat. (emphasis
added).

language in Chapter 194. It did not do so. Courts have consistently refrained from reading into statutory language a newly created right to a jury trial in tax assessment cases where no such right is explicitly granted. Ewert v. City of Winthrop, 278 N.W.2d 545, 551 (Minn. 1979) (denying right to a jury trial in a tax case); Dexter Horton Bldg. Co. v. King County, 116 P.2d 507, 512 (Wash. 1941) (denying right to jury trial in a tax case, stating "there is no warrant for reading into the statute by implication a requirement that the taxpayer may or must submit his cause to a jury.") This Court should similarly refrain from inferring that the legislature intended such a major departure from past practice as to allow a jury trial in a tax challenge case.

B. No Florida Court Has Ever Granted A Jury Trial In A Case Centering On An Ad Valorem Tax Assessment Challenge.

Petitioner heads the second section of its Initial Brief with the statement that "Florida courts have consistently granted jury trials in cases centering on property tax assessments." Petitioner then cites four cases as precedent to support its heading statement. To be of value as precedent, the questions adjudicated in a case cited as precedent must be in point with those presented in the instant case. Twyman v. Roell, 166 So. 215, 217 (Fla. 1936). A prior decision is not authority on any question not raised and considered. City of Miami v. Stegemann, 158 So.2d 583, 584 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1963). Pursuant to these well-established

principles of law, the cases cited by Petitioner have no precedential value to this Court.

Petitioner first cites Ozier v. Seminole County Property Appraiser, 585 So.2d 357 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) to support its assertion that it is entitled to a jury trial. In Ozier, the issue of whether a party to a tax challenge case had a right to a jury trial was never raised or considered by the court. The issue before the appeals court was whether summary judgment had been appropriately entered by the trial court. The Fifth District Court held that there was not a proper basis for summary judgment because of the existence of an issue of fact as to whether certain properties cited by the taxpayer were comparable with the taxpayer's property. The court then said that the issue of whether the properties were comparable for tax assessment purposes was "to be decided by the jury." Ozier, 585 So.2d at 358. This reference to "the jury" was most probably an inexact use of language, where the court should have said "by the trier of fact after receipt of evidence" rather than "by the jury". In any event, the language used by the Ozier court is not stare decisis, because the issue of whether a jury trial was proper was not discussed by that court and was never raised as an issue on appeal.

Petitioner next cites <u>Firstamerica Dev. Corp. v. County</u> of <u>Volusia</u>, 298 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974). In <u>Firstamerica</u>, the appellant appealed the trial judge's determination that appellant's land was not entitled to an agricultural classification for the tax year in question. The

opinion of the First District Court noted that a jury trial had been "specifically waived by stipulation of the parties". This case provides no more precedential support for Petitioner's claim than does <u>Ozier</u>. First, as in <u>Ozier</u>, the issue of whether a jury trial would have been proper was never discussed by the court and never raised as an issue on appeal. Second, it is obvious that the "waiver" of a non-existent right is a nullity that can have no effect on the proceedings of a case.

Petitioner also cites <u>Dickinson v. Allen</u>, 215 So.2d 747 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1968). The issue before the Second District Court in <u>Dickinson</u>, as in <u>Ozier</u>, was whether the summary judgment entered by the trial court was properly entered. The <u>Dickinson</u> court held that there were sufficient issues of fact to preclude summary judgment and to make final judgment a "full-trial question". <u>Dickinson</u>, 215 So.2d at 749. As in <u>Ozier</u> and <u>Firstamerica</u>, the issue of a right to a jury trial was never raised on appeal or considered by the court.

The language from page 749 of the <u>Dickinson</u> opinion, stating that, if there is an issue of material fact, the case "should be submitted to a jury which is the constitutional trier of the facts," is merely a paraphrasing of numerous Florida cases which state that, where there is a genuine issue of fact, a case is not proper for summary judgment, but

instead must go to the trier of facts (which is often a jury, but not always). As support for the cited language, the Dickinson court cited its own decision in Booth v. Mary Carter
Paint Co., 182 So.2d 292 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1966) and "cases collated therein." The cause of action at issue in Booth, however, was for the wrongful death of a motorist, not a tax challenge, and none of the cases "collated therein" were tax challenge cases. 3

The final case cited by Petitioner in the second section of its Initial Brief is City of South Miami v. State ex rel Gibbs, 143 Fla. 524, 197 So. 109 (Fla. 1940), a case which has absolutely no application to the question before this Court. City of South Miami is not a case discussing assessments or challenges to assessment valuations or classifications.

Instead, it was a case brought by the State of Florida for a writ of quo warranto to compel the City of South Miami to show good reason why it was exercising authority, including but not limited to its tax authority, over lands lying far from the

^{2/} It is abundantly clear that, despite the language used by the <u>Dickinson</u> court, a jury is not always the constitutional trier of facts. For example, juries are not the constitutional trier of facts in probate matters or other equitable proceedings. See <u>In re: Estate of Howard</u>, 542 So.2d 395, 397 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); <u>Allen v. Estate of Dutton</u>, 394 So.2d 132, 135-36 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); and cases cited in Section I of this brief, supra.

The <u>Dickinson</u> case itself was not a case dealing with the correctness of an assessment valuation or classification, but was rather a declaratory judgment action to determine the property appraiser's statutory authority to change his assessment after certification of the tax roll.

city center. This case is of absolutely no relevance to the instant case, because the remedy of quo warranto is of legal rather than equitable cognizance. 43 Fla.Jur.2d, Quo Warranto, s.5; citing Swoope v. New Smyrna, 98 Fla. 1082, 125 So. 371 (Fla. 1929). See also Orange County v. Orlando, 327 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1976) (equitable relief improper in action by county against city where county had adequate remedy at law available in quo warranto). Because the State brought its action pursuant to the legal action of quo warranto, it of course had a right to a jury trial.

Further, it seems incredible that, based on the four cases discussed above, Petitioner is able to make the assertion that "Florida Courts have consistently granted jury trials in cases centering on property tax assessments." the contrary, Respondent has been unable to find even one Florida tax challenge case that was tried by jury. To the best of Respondent's knowledge, each and every tax challenge case recorded in the opinions of Florida has been tried See, e.g., Bystrom v. Hotelerama Associates, 511 So.2d 987 (Fla. 1987); Blake v. Xerox, 447 So.2d 1348 (Fla. Greenwood v. Oates, 251 So.2d 665 (Fla. 1971); Wade v. Murhee, 75 Fla. 494, 78 So. 536, 537 (Fla. 1918); Robbins v. Summit Apartments, Ltd., 589 So.2d 460, 461 (Fla. 3rd DCA Florida Rock Industries v. Bystrom, 485 So.2d 442, 443 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986), rev. den'd. 492 So.2d 1332 (Fla. 1986); and Bystrom v. Union Land Investments, Inc., 477 So.2d 585, 586 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985) (where, as in the instant case, the

property appraiser filed an action in circuit court seeking to reinstate his original non-agricultural assessment of property after it had been overturned by the Property Appraisal Adjustment Board).

Neither the Ozier, Firstamerica, nor Dickinson cases were concerned with jury trials or the constitutional provision guaranteeing jury trials. None of these cases discussed whether the subject matters therein were based on equitable or legal principles. The City of South Miami case has no relevance to the instant case whatsoever. Given the non-precedential value of these cases, such a major departure from established law as to allow a jury trial in equitable proceedings such as tax challenge cases should not be based on mere inferences to be drawn from obiter dictum in cases where the propriety of jury trials was not an issue before the court.

C. The Cases Cited By The Third District Court Support The Court's Opinion.

The third section of Petitioner's Initial Brief discusses two cases, cited by the district court in its Opinion below, that Petitioner now asserts do not support the court's Opinion. Petitioner ends its third section by making the blanket statement that, "The remaining cases cited in the Opinion do not address the issues presented in this case." As with its earlier assertions, these assertions are unfounded and do not stand up to rational analysis.

Petitioner first claims that the case of Lincoln Tower Corp. v. Dunhall's-Florida, Inc., 61 So.2d 474 (Fla. 1952), cited by the district court on page three of its Opinion, R.53, supports Petitioner's claim of entitlement to a jury trial, rather than the Third District Court's contrary holding. $\frac{4}{}$ A proper reading of the Lincoln Tower case establishes that the case does support and is consistent with the district court's Opinion. Lincoln Tower was a statutory proceeding brought pursuant to an earlier version of the declaratory judgment act. This Court construed the statute at issue to prohibit "the submission of issues of fact to a jury which are traditionally within the province of an equity court to determine", but left "wide latitude . . . to the Court as to the submission to the . . . jury of those issues properly triable at common law." Lincoln Tower, at 476 (emphasis added). Thus, it is clear that this Court recognized the difference between issues of fact in equitable (chancery court) actions, and issues of fact in common law (law court) actions. Accordingly, when this Court stated that, "[I]t is immaterial whether the cause is entitled at common law or in equity, or that it partakes of the nature of both, so long as

Petitioner also states that <u>Lincoln Tower Corp.</u> was the principal case on which Respondent relied in his petition for writ of certiorari. See Petitioner's Initial Brief, p.6. In fact, Respondent did not even cite <u>Lincoln Tower Corp.</u> in his petition for writ of certiorari. R.1-21.

the right to jury trial of pertinent issues is preserved,"

Id. (emphasis added), it is clear that the "pertinent issues"

referred to are those issues properly triable in the law

courts, not those issues triable in the equity courts. To

argue otherwise, as Petitioner does, is to ignore and render a

nullity this Court's construction of the statute at issue as

prohibiting "the submission of issues of fact to a jury which

are traditionally within the province of an equity court."

Id.

Petitioner next attempts to assail the Third District Court's citation of Camp Phosphate Co. v. Allen, 77 Fla. 341, 81 So. 503 (Fla. 1919). The district court cited Camp Phosphate as an example of the fact that tax challenge cases implicate the equitable jurisdiction of the courts, because, in Camp Phosphate, the taxpayer plaintiff sought an injunction against the tax collector. R.52. Petitioner attacks this citation by stating that Cosen Investment Co., Inc. v. Overstreet, 154 Fla. 416, 17 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1944), overturned the rule of law, established in Camp Phosphate, that a tax assessment could be legal even if the assessment was for less than full cash value, so long as all property was assessed at the same percentage of full value. Cosen, 17 So.2d at 788. Although Cosen certainly did overturn this rule from Camp Phosphate, in did nothing to contradict the fact that Camp Phosphate was a tax challenge case that implicated the equitable jurisdiction of the court. Petitioner's argument as to Camp Phosphate is both curious and irrelevant.

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